THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAR 13 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Case No. 2018-CP-13-00621

Appellant Case No. 2019-000147

Glenn Odom, Respondent,

v.

Town of McBee Election Commission and
Shilon Green,Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

SWEENEY, WINGATE & BARROW, P.A.

BOWERS LAW OFFICE, LLC

Martin S. Driggers, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 13668)
Richard E. McLawhorn, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 100179)
115 Cargill Way, Suite B
Hartsville, South Carolina 29211
T: (803) 256-2233
F: (803) 256-9177
msd@swblaw.com
rem@swblaw.com

Karl S. Bowers, Jr.
S.C. Bar No. 0016141
P.O. Box 50549
Columbia, SC 29520
Telephone: (803) 753-1099

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the Court err in in declaring Glenn Odom won the election without counting the contested votes?**

- II. **Did the Court err in finding that Odom preserved the request to declare him winner of the election under S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 in his Notice of Election Contest by indicating the results of his contest “will affect the outcome and results of the election?”**

- III. **Did the Court err in finding that S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 creates a separate procedure allowing Odom to contest the election after the results of the election were declared and that the MEC did not comply with S.C. Code Ann. §7-13-830?**

- IV. **Did the Court err in finding that the MEC’s decision that four votes should have counted in an election with a one vote margin did not invalidate the election?**

- V. **Did the Court err in finding that the Town of McBee Municipal Election Commission had statutory authority allowing it to do anything other than issue an order for a new election?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying case concerns a Contest of a Municipal Election for the Town of McBee town council. The candidates for two open seats on the Town of McBee Town Council on the September 5, 2018 town council election were: Kemp McLeod (“McLeod”), Glenn Odom (“Odom”), Shilon Green (“Green”), Don Robinson (“Robinson”), and Sim Tyner (“Tyner”). After the counting of absentee and provisional ballots, Town of McBee Municipal Election Commission (“MEC”) declared the results of the election to be: McLeod 212, Green 209, Odom 208, Robinson 182, and Tyner 8.

Glenn Odom filed a notice and amended notice to contest the results of the McBee Town Election for Town Council. (R. p. 166). The MEC conducted a hearing on the contest that began on September 10, 2018, and concluded on September 25, 2018 at the Town of McBee Town Hall. (R. p. 50). Testimony was taken from four witnesses – Simone Bracey (“Bracey”), Sabrina De Jesus (“De Jesus”), Cindy Kirk (“Kirk”), and Robert Liles (“Liles”) – whose provisional ballots were not counted due to challenges on the date of the election and when the ballots were considered and the results declared by the MEC. (R. pp. 54-72; 75-81; 91-102; 103-113; 166).

After considering the testimony presented at the hearing, the MEC found Bracey, De Jesus, Kirk, and Liles were domiciled in the Town of McBee more than thirty (30) days before the September 5, 2018 election as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 7-5-610, S.C. Code Ann. § 7-5-230(B) and S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25, and therefore, were voters eligible to vote in the September 5, 2018 election. (R. p. 16). At the hearing, each of these voters testified that they voted for Glenn Odom in the election, but their ballots were never opened and counted. (R. pp. 72, 78, 94, 105). Because these four votes were not counted, and because adding the four votes to the total for Odom would have

changed the outcome of the election, the MEC invalidated the September 5, 2018 election and ordered a new election as required under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130. (R. p. 16).

After the MEC Decision ordering a new election, Odom filed an appeal with the circuit court in which he requested that the circuit court overturn the MEC and declare him the winner because the four voters testified they had voted for him.

A hearing on Odom’s appeal was held before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson on October 17, 2018. At the hearing, Odom argued S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 required the votes be counted and requested the circuit court send the case back to the MEC to allow the MEC to count the votes. (R. pp. 145-146). Counsel for the MEC and Green argued that S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 limits the MEC to invalidating the election and ordering a new election. (R. p. 146-152). On November 13, 2018, Judge Henderson denied Odom’s appeal, noting “[t]he South Carolina Supreme Court has declared that the ‘only relief the Commission may order is a new election as to the parties concerned.’” (R. p. 2).

On November 26, 2018, Odom filed a Motion to Reconsider, arguing again that S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 requires the four votes be counted and that he be declared the winner after the counting of the votes. (*See* R. p. 26-30). Green and the MEC filed memorandums in opposition, making similar arguments to the ones made in the October 17, 2018 hearing, and further arguing that Odom had not preserved the question of declaring himself the winner as he did not request that relief in his notice. (*See* R. p. 37-41; 43-46). On January 22, 2019, Judge Henderson entered an Order granting Odom’s Motion to Reconsider and remanded the proceedings to the MEC to not only count the contested votes but to also “declare Odom the winner of the Town Council Election consistent with the provisions of this Order.” (R. p. 9). This appeal follows.

FACTS

In May of 2018, Kirk moved into a mobile home within the town limits of the Town of McBee. (R. p. 92). In July of 2018, De Jesus, Bracey, and Liles moved into trailers owned by Odom that were within the Town of McBee town limits. (R. pp. 54, 73, 78-79, 107, 119). The election was held on September 5, 2018. After the election, there were 17 ballots that were challenged or provisional. (R. p. 111). After considering the provisional and challenged ballots, six votes, including those of De Jesus, Bracey, Liles and Kirk were rejected and were not counted. (R. p. 112; 166). After the counting of absentee ballots and provisional ballots, the results were: McLeod 212, Green 209, Odom 208, Robinson 182, and Tyner 8. Odom then challenged the results of the election. (R. p. 166). This challenge would necessarily have been filed under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 as the provisional ballots had already been considered and decided upon.

In the Notice of Contest, Odom challenged that Bracey, De Jesus, Liles, Kirk, and Gloria Sumner's ("Sumner") provisional ballots were not counted, and that Shirley Sullivan and Frank Johnson were not allowed to vote. (R. p. 166). He also challenged that a Cornelius Green was allowed to vote although he was a resident of Columbia, South Carolina, and that Mr. Mendoza and Mr. DeWitt's provisional votes were allowed. (*Id.*). In his Notice of Contest, Odom simply stated that "[t]hese contested votes will affect the outcome and results of the election." (*Id.*)

At the Contest Hearing, Odom presented evidence that Kirk, De Jesus, Bracey, and Liles resided in homes within the town limits of the Town of McBee more than 30 days before the election. (R. pp. 54-72; 75-81; 91-102; 103-113). He further argued that these votes should have been counted, should be counted, and Odom declared the winner. (R. p. 124-125, 131-132).

Green presented evidence that while Kirk, De Jesus, Bracey, and Liles may claim to live in their homes in the town limits, but they did not actually reside there. To support his argument, Green

presented evidence that the homes did not have electricity, that the homes did not have certificates of occupancy when the voters claimed to have lived in the home, and that the homes were not legally connected to the water system when the voters claimed to be living in the homes. (R. pp. 62-66, 80, 99, 107-108). Green further argued that the results of the election should stand. (R. pp. 126-130). After considering the testimony of the witnesses, the MEC ultimately concluded that the provisional ballots of Bracey, De Jesus, Kirk, and Liles should have counted, and ordered a new election under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130. (R. p. 16).

Odom then took the unusual step of appealing a ruling favorable to him, alleging that the ballots of De Jesus, Bracey, Liles, and Kirk should be counted and he declared the winner. A hearing on Odom's appeal was held before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson on October 17, 2018. At the hearing, Odom argued S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 required the votes be counted and requested the circuit court send the case back to the MEC to allow the MEC to count the votes. (R. pp. 145-146). Counsel for the MEC and Green argued that S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 limited the MEC to invalidating the election and ordering a new election. (R. pp. 146-149). On November 13, 2018, Judge Henderson denied Odom's appeal, noting "[t]he South Carolina Supreme Court has declared that the 'only relief the Commission may order is a new election as to the parties concerned.'" (R. p. 2).

On November 26, 2018, Odom filed a Motion to Reconsider, arguing again that S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 requires the four votes be counted and that he be declared the winner after the counting of the votes. (*See* R. pp. 26-30). Green and the MEC filed memorandums in opposition, making similar arguments and further arguing that Odom had not preserved the question of declaring himself the winner as he did not request that relief in his notice. (*See* R. pp. 37-40; 43-45). On January 22, 2019, Judge Henderson entered an Order granting Odom's Motion to Reconsider and

remanded the proceedings to the MEC to not only count the contested votes, but to also “declare Odom the winner of the Town Council Election consistent with the provisions of this Order.” (R. p. 9).

ARGUMENTS

I. The Circuit Court erred in ordering the MEC to declare Odom the winner regardless of the vote count.

The MEC ruled, and the circuit court affirmed, that the votes of Bracy, De Jesus, Kirk, and Liles should have been counted in the September 5, 2018 election. These votes were not counted and to this day have not been counted. Rather, Odom argued, and the circuit court held, that the Commission should declare Odom the winner based on the testimony of these witnesses at the contest hearing alone. This does not conform with South Carolina statutory or case law on how votes are to be counted.

“Immediately upon the closing of the polls at any municipal election, the managers *shall count publicly the votes cast* and make a statement of the whole number of votes cast in such election together with the number of votes cast for each candidate for mayor and councilman and transmit this information to the municipal election commission.” S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-120 [emphasis added]. “When all councilmen are to be elected at large, the persons receiving the highest number of votes in number equal to the number to be chosen shall be declared elected.” S.C. Code Ann. §5-15-120(a).

In the Order on Motion to Reconsider, the circuit court ordered the MEC to not only count the challenged ballots, but also ordered the MEC to declare Odom the winner, regardless of whether the votes were counted. Indeed, the Order on Motion to Reconsider already declares Odom as the

winner of the election multiple times.¹ This does not conform with South Carolina law. South Carolina law does not authorize voting by testifying at a hearing. There is no statute or case law whatsoever supporting the circuit court's decision to declare one candidate a winner based on the public testimony of voters who live in trailers owned by the candidate they claimed to have voted for. Indeed, the South Carolina Constitution requires "[a]ll elections by the people shall be by secret ballot" S.C. Const. Art. II § 1. If the Order on Motion to Reconsider is allowed to stand, the MEC would have no choice but to both count the votes and declare Odom the winner, regardless of the vote count. This directly conflicts with S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-120(a), which requires the MEC to declare the winner based on the vote count. To have a judge declare the winner of an election before even the votes are counted does not comport with any case law or statute in South Carolina and is an unprecedented invasion into not only the election process as established by the Constitution and the legislature, but the basic principles of democracy.

Because the circuit court has declared Odom the winner of the election based upon the public testimony as opposed to counting their ballots, the Order on Motion to Reconsider should be reversed and the MEC's decision ordering a new election upheld.

II. Odom did not preserve his request to protest the election under S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 because it was not referenced in his notice of contest.

¹ Several times the Order on Motion to Reconsider declared Odom the winner even though the votes of the four voters have not even been counted. *See* R. p. 2 (“[T]he Court grants the Motion to Reconsider for the reasons stated below and remands these proceedings to the McBee Election Commission to declare Odom the winner of the Town Council election.”); R. p. 5 (“Instead of counting the votes and declaring Odom the winner, the Commission invalidated the election”); R. p. 8 (“The result of following this plain language is that Odom is the election winner and the Commission erred in ordering a new election rather than declaring him a winner.”); R. p. 9 (“Odom was the winner of the Town Council Election. The Court remands these proceedings to the [MEC] to count the contested votes and declare Odom the winner of the Town Council Election”) [emphasis added].

In Odom's Motion to Reconsider, Odom requested that the circuit court order that Odom was the winner of the election based on the testimony from the contest hear. (R. p. 166). The circuit court held that merely because the MEC "knew Odom asked it to declare him the winner and that those opposing him wanted a new election" that the issue was preserved for appeal. (R. p. 6).

"A notice of contest filed pursuant to Section 5-15-130 should briefly state facts or a combination of facts sufficient to apprise the election commission and winning candidate of the reason for the challenge." *Taylor v. Town of Atl. Beach Election Comm'n*, 363 S.C. 8, 17, 609 S.E.2d 500, 504 (2005). "The circuit court, sitting in an appellate capacity, may not consider issues which were not raised to the election commission." *Id.* To be preserved for review, issues in an election contest must be raised in the contest letter. *Id.* at 18, 609 S.E.2d at 505 ("These issues are not preserved for appellate review. Appellants failed to raise either issue in their notice of contest letters.") [emphasis added].

"The right to contest an election exists only under the [state] constitutional and statutory provisions, and the procedure prescribed by statute must be strictly followed." *Taylor v. Roche*, 271 S.C. 505, 509, 248 S.E.2d 580, 582 (1978) [emphasis added]. "Within forty-eight hours after the closing of the polls, any candidate may contest the result of the election as reported by the managers by filing a written notice of such contest together with a concise statement of the grounds therefor" S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 [emphasis added]. Pleadings in an election contest case should be sufficiently specific to give reasonable information for the grounds for the contest. *See Butler v. Town of Edgefield*, 328 S.C. 238, 247, 493 S.E.2d 838, 843 (1997) [citations omitted] [emphasis added].

"It is the duty of the managers of election to, and any elector or qualified watcher may, challenge the vote of a person who may be known or suspected not to be a qualified voter." S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 [emphasis added]. "However, the challenges by persons other than a manager

must be addressed to the manager and not directly to the voter.” S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 [emphasis added]. “A candidate may protest an election in which he is a candidate pursuant to Section 7-17-30 when the protest is based in whole or in part on evidence discovered after the election.” S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 [emphasis added].

In Odom’s Notice of Contest, Odom wrote that “I would like to contest the official results of the September 4th, 2018 Town Council election on the following grounds” (R. p. 166) [emphasis added]. He then proceeded to list several reasons for the contest. At the end of the letter, he wrote “These contested votes will affect the outcome and results of the election.” (*Id.*) [emphasis added].

The statutes are clear that candidates “contest” an election under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 and they “challenge” and “protest” elections under S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 *et seq.* By using the term “contest” in his Notice of Contest, Odom clearly indicated that he was contesting the election under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130. In his Notice of Contest, he never referenced S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 or S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830. He also never requested that the votes be counted and he declared the winner, only noting that “these contested votes will affect the outcome and the results of the election.” (R. p. 166). While Odom did request he be declared the winner at the hearing, this was too late. (R. pp. 124-125, 131-132).

The circuit court’s decision that the issue had been preserved because the MEC “knew Odom asked it to declare him the winner and that those opposing him wanted a new election” was incorrect. Before the hearing, there was no indication that Odom was filing the appeal under S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830. Furthermore, Green did not want a new election. Rather, Green sought to uphold the results of the election as he won by one vote. (R. pp. 132-133). By failing to include any reference to declaring him the winner or to S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 *et seq.*, and using the term “contest” in

the Notice of Contest, the only issue that Odom preserved for appeal was whether he was entitled to a new election under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130.

Because neither his request to be declared the winner or his belief that he was challenging the election under S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 *et seq.* were referenced in his Notice of Contest, these issues were not preserved for appeal and cannot be considered. Because these issues were not preserved for appeal, the circuit court could not consider them in its Order on Motion to Reconsider, and, therefore, the Order on Motion to Reconsider should be reversed.

III. The Circuit Court erred in finding that S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 created another way to contest municipal elections, that such contests under S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 could be conducted after the declaration of the results of the election, and that the MEC did not comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810.

“Municipal primary, general and special elections shall be conducted pursuant to Title 7, *mutatis mutandi*, except as otherwise provided for specifically in Chapters 1 through 17” of Title 5. S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-10. “Municipal elections must be conducted pursuant to the South Carolina Election Law contained in Title 7, with any necessary changes in points of detail.” *George v. Mun. Election Comm’n*, 335 S.C. 182, 190, 516 S.E.2d 206, 210 (1999) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-10).

S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 and 830 outline the procedure whereby an election manager, elector, or qualified watcher may challenge a vote of a person known or suspected not to be a qualified voter. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 7-13-810, 830. After receiving the challenge, “[t]he manager shall then present the challenge to the voter and act in accordance with the provisions provided in this section.” S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810. After a voter is challenged and he insists he is qualified

to vote, he may vote by utilizing a provisional ballot. S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830. After receiving the provisional votes, the election authority is to keep the votes separate and apart from the other votes. *Id.* Then, “at the meeting specified in either Section 7-17-10 or 7-17-510, whichever is applicable, this authority must hear all objections to these votes, and when no person appears or offers evidence before the meeting to sustain an objection made at the polls, the ballot is no longer a provisional ballot.” *Id.* Additionally, if the challenger were to appear and produce evidence that shows the voter was not qualified, the authority must hear the testimony and make a determination as to whether the vote counts. *Id.* The “meeting” specified in S.C. Code Ann. § 7-17-510 is to “canvass the vote and declare the results of the primaries and the runoffs” S.C. Code Ann. § 7-17-510.

The circuit court held in the Order on Motion to Reconsider that S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 applied to this case. Appellants do not dispute that S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 and 830 apply to this election. Rather, their position is that: A) S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 does not create a separate mechanism by which elections are contested; B) S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 challenges must be conducted before the declaration of the election results; and C) the MEC did comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 when it decided upon the provisional and challenged ballots before the declaration of the election results.

A. S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 does not create a separate procedure by which an election may be contested.

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