THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

MAR 27 2019

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY  
The Honorable Roger E. Henderson

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-000147

---

Glenn Odom, ..... Respondent,

v.

Town of McBee Election Commission and Shilon Green, ..... Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Kathleen C. Barnes  
S.C. Bar No. 78854  
BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC  
P.O. Box 897  
Hampton, SC 29924  
(803) 943-4529

John E. Parker  
William F. Barnes, III  
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,  
ELTZROTH & DETRICK  
P.O. Box 457  
Hampton, SC 29924  
(803) 943-2111

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

##

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

## **ARGUMENT**

It is undisputed that the challenged votes should have been counted. The dispute in this appeal is whether the result of that finding is that (1) the votes are added to the total vote count and the election results entered accordingly or (2) the election is invalidated and a new one ordered. The lower court correctly held the relief in S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 requires the MEC to add the four votes to the total vote count and enter the election results accordingly.

### **I. APPELLANTS’ FIRST AND THIRD ISSUES ARE UNPRESERVED**

Appellants’ Argument sections I. and III. (including all subparts) are not preserved because they did not raise them to the lower court. Odom filed a motion to reconsider, which the lower court granted in his favor. If Appellants wanted to contest a new ruling in that order, they were required to file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion. *See Coward Hund Constr. v. Ball Corp.*, 336 S.C. 1, 4, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct. App. 1999) (noting that “challenging a new ruling in its second motion” for reconsideration is proper) (citing *Pelican Bldg. Ctrs. v. Dutton*, 311 S.C. 56, 60, 427 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1993) (stating that although the appellant learned for the first time upon receiving the order on a post-trial motion that the respondent would be granted certain additional relief, the appellant must move under Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to alter or amend the judgment to “preserve the record for appeal”)). Appellants failed to raise an issue or seek a ruling as to the vote count or the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-810 to this case and cannot now complain about those rulings on appeal. The Court should find the arguments unpreserved.

## II. THE LOWER COURT ORDERED THE CORRECT RELIEF

It is important to clarify exactly what the lower court ordered because Appellants misstate it. The lower court did not order “the MEC to declare Odom the winner, regardless of whether the votes were counted.” (Br. of App. p. 6). The lower court ordered the MEC “to *count* the contested votes and declare Odom the winner of the Town Council Election *consistent with the provisions of this Order.*” (R. p. 9) (emphasis added). The Order expressly states: “No party challenged the Commission’s finding that four of the challenged votes *for Odom* should have been counted and that *counting them would have resulted in Odom being declared the winner* of the election.” (R. p. 27) (emphasis added). Appellants did not challenge the lower court’s ruling that “it is the law of the case” that counting the challenged votes “would have resulted in Odom being declared the winner” by way of a Rule 59(e) motion. The dispute before the lower court was always whether the votes should be counted and, accordingly, Mr. Odom declared the winner, or whether a new election is required.

The lower court correctly ordered the MEC to count the votes and declare Odom the winner. Appellants’ argument that this violates election laws and invades the election process is meritless and a narrow reading of the order. Appellants cite to Title 5, which states only the procedure for an election dispute but not the legal basis of a dispute over challenged votes. (Br. of App. p. 6). Title 7 contains the substantive law applicable to challenged votes and provides that “each ballot whose challenge was decided in favor of the voter must be removed from the envelope, mingled, and counted and the totals added to the previously counted regular ballot total.” S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830. The lower court quoted this exact statutory language in its order. (R. p. 8). Therefore, taking the entirety of the Order into account, when the lower court ordered the MEC “to count the contested votes and declare Odom the winner of the Town Council Election

consistent with the provisions of this Order”, it ordered the MEC to count the votes in accordance with the law and assumed, as no one challenged, the votes are for Mr. Odom and he should be declared the winner. The Order cannot be interpreted to order the MEC to declare Mr. Odom the winner without counting the votes. The lower court correctly ordered the MEC to follow the procedure for counting challenged votes and declaring the election winner accordingly.

**III. MR. ODOM PRESERVED THE ISSUES OF DECLARING HIM THE ELECTION WINNER CONSISTENT WITH THE CHALLENGED VOTES**

Appellants’ argument on this point misstates issue preservation law, is overly technical, and places form over substance. Mr. Odom satisfied the issue preservation requirements by raising to the MEC the issue of whether he should be declared the winner, and the MEC ruled on it by ordering a new election.

Mr. Odom disputed the election results by submitting a letter to the MEC. It stated, “I would like to contest the official results of the September 4<sup>th</sup>, 2018 Town Council election on the following grounds: . . .” and listed numerous challenged votes that should have been counted and why they should have been counted. (R. p. 166). The letter also stated, “These contested votes will affect the outcome and results of the election.” *Id.* At the hearing on Mr. Odom’s protest, he argued to the MEC that “he should be awarded those votes and be declared the winner.” (R. p. 125-26, 131-32). Mr. Odom directly raised to the MEC the issue of being declared the winner based on the votes for him, and the MEC ruled on the issue by denying his request and ordering a new election.

Appellants’ argument is based solely on the assertion that an issue may only be raised in the written letter to the election commission and that the letter must specifically cite to the statute<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The MEC must not have interpreted the letter as solely falling within § 5-15-130 because that statute requires that “[w]ithin *forty-eight hours after the filing of such notice*, the Municipal Election Commission *shall*, after due notice to the parties concerned, conduct a hearing on the

at issue and expressly request the relief sought. This is not supported by the law and is contrary to long-standing issue preservation law. “Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). The MEC had a fair opportunity to rule on the issue of challenged votes and whether to declare Mr. Odom the winner. Every witness testified about a “challenge” to their vote. (R. pp. 54-55, 76-78, 93-94, 104-05). At the hearing, Mr. Odom argued to the MEC “These votes should be counted. They – Mr. Odom should be declared the winner and certified as the winner of the election for the town council.” (R. pp. 126, 131-32). In response, counsel for Appellant Green did not argue that Mr. Odom should have raised that issue in his letter to the MEC but, instead, responded on the merits by arguing “if they do win, he’s not awarded – he’s not just made the winner. You get a new election.” (R. pp. 126-27). A review of the record shows that Mr. Odom raised the issue of challenged votes under Title 7 and asked to be declared the winner, that all parties (including the MEC) understood that to be the issue before the MEC, and the MEC ruled on the issues by finding the challenges to the votes unjustified and ordering a new election. Mr. Odom satisfied issue preservation requirements.

A ruling to the contrary would require exact, precise use of statutes and legal doctrines in written motions to raise an issue. That is something our courts have never required. “Of course, a party is not required to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve the issue.” *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642. Further, assuming a letter disputing an election is

---

contest . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 (emphasis added). Mr. Odom filed his letter on September 6, 2018, and the MEC did not conduct its hearing until September 25, 2018, well past the mandatory forty-eight-hour deadline.

treated as a complaint,<sup>5</sup> the parties may try an issue not raised by the pleadings by consent. Rule 15(b), SCRCP (“When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings.”).

Finally regardless of whether the Court looks to Title 5<sup>6</sup> or Title 7, neither one requires a person disputing an election to request specific relief in his notice letter. Section 5-15-130 requires only that the notice includes “a concise statement of the grounds therefor”, and Section 7-13-810 states only that “[a] candidate may protest an election in which he is a candidate pursuant to § 7-17-30 when the protest is based in whole or in part on evidence discovered after the election” but does not specify any material required for the protest. Appellants’ assertion that Mr. Odom must have cited to a specific statute and asked for specific relief in his letter to the MEC to preserve the issue is not supported by election law or issue preservation law. The Court should find the issue is properly preserved.

#### **IV. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED THE RELIEF IN § 7-13-830 TO THIS CASE**

In response to Appellants’ third Argument section, it is necessary to explain the procedure and legal substance of Mr. Odom’s election dispute. Appellants’ interpretation of the lower court’s order as based on § 7-13-180—a statute that it does not even cite—is incorrect and misconstrues the merits of this appeal. Appellants’ Argument sections III.A.-C. are related and addressed below.

---

<sup>5</sup> An election dispute is a creature of statute, whereas the procedure for instituting a civil action is governed by the Rules of Civil Procedure. *See, e.g.*, Rule 3, SCRCP (“A civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court . . .”).

<sup>6</sup> Appellants argue that Mr. Odom’s use of the word “contest” indicates he only sought relief under § 5-15-130. Appellants’ own word choices disprove this argument. At the hearing before the MEC, the MEC and counsel for Appellant Green used the word “protest” to refer to this action. (R. p. 50 ln. 3, p. 51 ln.21).

An understanding of the interplay between Title 5 and Title 7 is vital to deciding this appeal because provisions from both Titles apply to this case. Title 5 provides that “Municipal primary, general and special elections shall be conducted pursuant to Title 7, mutatis mutandi, except as otherwise provided for specifically in Chapters 1 through 17” of Title 5. S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-10. “Municipal elections must be conducted pursuant to the South Carolina Election Law contained in Title 7, with any necessary changes in points of detail.” *George v. Municipal Election Comm’n*, 335 S.C. 182, 190, 516 S.E.2d 206, 210 (1999) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-10 (1976)). In other words, a municipal election is conducted pursuant to Title 7 unless a provision of Title 5 specifically applies.

The substantive *legal* basis of Mr. Odom’s election dispute is S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830, which “Appellants do not dispute . . . appl[ies] to this election.” (Br. of App. p. 11). The *procedure* for raising that legal issue is stated in S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130, which provides that “[w]ithin forty-eight hours after the closing of the polls, any candidate may contest the result of the election as reported by the managers by filing a written notice of such contest together with a concise statement of the grounds therefor with the Municipal Election Commission.” § 5-15-130. By applying § 7-13-830 to this case, the lower court did not, as Appellants argue, create a new way to contest an election. (Br. of App. pp. 11-12). Rather, the lower court’s order stands for the proposition that § 7-13-830 may be the legal basis of an election dispute made using the procedure stated in § 5-15-130 when it is timely made.

In this case, Mr. Odom filed his letter disputing the election results on September 6, 2018. (R. p. 166). “Within forty-eight hours after the filing of such notice, the Municipal Election Commission shall, after due notice to the parties concerned, conduct a hearing on the contest, decide the issues raised . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130. The MEC failed to conduct a hearing

on Mr. Odom's dispute within forty-eight hours of the filing of his letter. (R. p. 47). Instead, it held a meeting to consider provisional ballots and then declared the election results on September 7, 2018, while Mr. Odom's dispute was still pending and unresolved. (Br. of App. p. 13). The timing is significant. Appellants argue that "§ 7-13-830 only applies to challenges made before the vote total was declared." (Br. of App. p. 13). Mr. Odom did dispute the challenged votes *before* the MEC declared the election results, but the MEC failed to timely address it and rule on it. Therefore, it cannot now argue that Mr. Odom's dispute is untimely under § 7-13-830.

Section 7-13-830 applies when a voter is challenged.

When any person is so challenged, the manager must explain to him the qualifications of an elector and may examine him as to the same. If the person insists that he is qualified and the challenge is not withdrawn, his provisional vote must be received and placed in an envelope on which must be written the name of the voter and that of the challenger.

S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830. In this case, the four challenged voters who testified at the overdue MEC hearing on Mr. Odom's dispute stated that they were only told they were being challenged and voted on paper. (R. pp. 55-58, 77, 93-94, 104-06).<sup>7</sup> No one explained the "qualification of an elector" or "examine[d] him as to the same." § 7-13-830. "At the meeting specified in either § 7-17-10 or 7-17-510, whichever is applicable, this authority must hear all objections to these votes, and when no person appears or offers evidence before the meeting to sustain an objection made at the polls, the ballot is no longer a provisional ballot." § 7-13-830. Neither S.C. Code Ann. § 7-17-10 nor § 7-17-510 appear applicable to a municipal town council election. *See* § 7-17-10 (referring to "[t]he commissioners of election for Governor and Lieutenant Governor, state officers, circuit

---

<sup>7</sup> Ms. DeJesus testified she "asked why I was being challenged. And the lady told me she wasn't sure." (R. p. 56 lns. 9-10). She was instructed to call the MEC, which she did, and "they told me that at that point, when I came into the election that Kent [sic] McLeod should have been there to explain to me why I was being challenged. And he was not present that day when I was here." (R. pp. 56-57).

solicitors, members of the General Assembly, and county officers of any of these officers”); § 7-17-510 (referring to “[t]he board of voter registration and elections for the counties”). The MEC, presumably as “the authority” referenced in § 7-13-830, met and declared the election results on September 7, 2018, with full knowledge of Mr. Odom’s pending dispute regarding challenged votes.

There is no evidence in the record as to whether the MEC considered the four challenged votes involved in this appeal prior to declaring the election results. The evidence suggests the contrary because the MEC did consider them in its hearing on Mr. Odom’s contest. If its position is that the prior election results were final and no more challenged votes may be considered—the position it now argues on appeal for the first time—then the MEC presumably would not have held the September 25, 2018 hearing with testimony from the challenged voters, gone into executive session to consider it, and come out to determine that the challenges were incorrect and the votes should have been counted. Contrary to Appellants’ assertions, the MEC’s actions do not comply with § 7-13-830 because it declared the election results with a dispute as to challenged votes still pending. (Br. of App. pp. 13-14).

The records shows the MEC deliberately certified the election results with a pending election contest that it failed to timely consider as required by law. The lower court correctly applied § 7-13-830 to a challenged voter dispute that was filed under the procedure provided in § 5-15-130. Sections 7-13-830 and 5-15-130 are not mutually exclusive. If the MEC followed the law in this case, it could have addressed Mr. Odom’s challenge and certified the election results, addressing all challenged votes, in a timely manner. The Court should affirm the lower court’s decision to apply § 7-13-830.

**V. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THERE IS NO BASIS TO INVALIDATE THE ELECTION**

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